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DESCRIBETHE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The old German-American State Bank is a two-story rectangular structure with flat 
roof located on the northwest corner of Fifth Street and Kansas Avenue in Topeka. The 
main facade faces east on Kansas Avenue and is approximately 26 feet wide while the 
side elevation faces south on Fifth Street and is a little more than twice as long. On 
these facades the surfaces are clad in white glazed brick and ornamented with white 
glazed terracotta elements.

Four segmentally arched window bays articulate the south facade and one arched bay 
twice as wide as those on the south stretches across the shorter Kansas Avenue facade. 
The two-story wall piers are ornamented with glazed terracotta pendants, while a console 
graces the arch of the main facade. The window spandrels are recessed and contain inset 
panels ornamented with bands of discs. The second-story windows are tripartite in form 
with a large single-light central panel flanked by narrower side panels having one-over- 
one sashes. The mull ions, jambs and frames are made of brown-painted wood. The larger 
windows of the first story have transom-level horizontal rails running across all three 
divisions and are proportioned differently from those of the second story. All windows 
in the building have panes of dark tinted glass.

The entablature is elaborately ornamented with terracotta detailing, the most 
notable feature being a band of small arches that enclose foliate forms. Above the 
entablature is a straight parapet whose horizontality is interrupted by merlon-like 
projections at points above the piers.

There are two first-story entrances and one basement entrance in the main portion 
of the building, occurring at the south end of the main facade and at the west end of 
the side elevation. A light trough runs the length of the Fifth Street facade, providing 
a source of natural light for the basement, which is reached by exterior stairs running 
down from the sidewalk level at both east and west ends. Several buttresses bridge the 
trough just below street level. On the Kansas Avenue side glass bricks set into the 
pavement also light the basement where it reaches out under the sidewalk.

ALTERATIONS

The building has been totally renovated on the interior. All of the windows have 
been replaced: the new second-story windows duplicate the original second-story windows 
in design and materials (excepting the tinted glass), but the first-story windows do not 
duplicate the historic treatment of these elements. While the complete original first 
story window treatment is not at present known, these windows appear to have had metal 
frames, transoms vertically divided into square panes, and large plate glass openings 
below.

Finally, to the rear, a structure containing stairways and an elevator has been 
constructed to facilitate circulation from floor to floor and to provide handicapped 
access. Originally, each floor had a separate exterior entrance. Access to the second 
floor was attained by using the stairway in the adjacent building to the north. The 
elevator addition has been recessed from the plane of the southern facade.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The old German-American State Bank building at 435 Kansas Avenue, Topeka, is a 
small-scale commercial structure which evidences a significant aspect of Topeka's ethnic 
heritage and exemplifies early twentieth-century trends in American commercial archi­ 
tecture.

Millard F. Rigby, owner of a Topeka confectionary business, acquired the lot at 
435 Kansas Avenue in 1908 for a sum of $20,000. In April of 1910 he ordered the 
demolition of the building which had been occupying the site. By May, the local 
contracting firm of Leeper and Smith had commenced construction of a new two-story 
commercial structure on the lot. The $15,000 building was one of many being erected 
in Topeka during what was at the time recognized to be a minor city-wide building boom.

The first tenant to occupy the new building was George M. Noble, who ran a real 
estate/insurance business from the second floor offices. A 1913 Sanborn Insurance Map 
indicates that a drugstore was in operation on the ground floor at that time. By 1916, 
however, the building had become the home of the German-American State Bank. On 
December 21, 1917, the name of the bank was changed to the Guaranty State Bank and 
that institution remained at this location until the 1950s.

The German-American State Bank first opened its doors at another location in 
January of 1908. The name reflected the institution's association with Topeka's 
German community. Like the German-language newspapers and the German national parish 
church of St. Joseph's located a few blocks away, the bank catered to this distinct 
immigrant population within the city. Primarily German Russians, these people had 
begun to settle in Kansas in the 1870s. Many were attracted to Topeka by the job 
opportunities offered by the railroads and other industries centered here. Alteration 
of the bank's name in late 1917 undoubtedly reflected the anti-German sentiment that 
accompanied World War I.

Architecturally, the new structure was derived from a combination of design idioms. 
In overall design, the building reflected the style of commercial architecture pop­ 
ularized by the so-called "Chicago School" of architecture beginning in the late 1880s 
and continuing into the second decade of the twentieth century. In this style of 
architecture, the building was treated like a box pierced by a regular arrangement of 
large windows to provide maximum natural illumination of the interior. Often the box 
approximated the appearance of a cage, with widely spaced masonry piers and relatively 
narrow window spandrels. While in tall structures this arrangement frequently reflected 
a system of steel cage construction, in the small Topeka building the cage effect is 
achieved entirely by masonry construction.
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White had become a popular color for the exteriors of commercial 
buildings beginning in the 1890s. The Chicago World Fair of 1893, with 
its "White City" image, and skyscrapers such as Root's Reliance Building, 
encouraged a taste for light-colored masonry design. Glazed terracotta 
and brick as found at 435 Kansas Avenue were favored materials for achieving 
the desired effect.

Finally, the detailing of the new building displayed characteristics 
of both romanesque revival and classical revival design idioms, each of 
which were commonly employed in commercial design since the later 19th 
century although a taste for classical features was by this period in the 
ascendancy.

THIS STATEMENT REFLECTS CURRENT KNOWLEDGE AND MAY BE SUBJECT TO FUTURE 
AMENDMENT.
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